
2200 Prytania

1452-56 Jackson Ave
Historic Property Report



2200 Prytania Street | Historic Property Report 

Table of Contents

• Property Description

• Chain of Title

• Neighborhood History

• Property History

• Property Use

• Architectural Changes

2200 Prytania

Uptown map, Google Earth, 2022



2200 Prytania Street | Historic Property Report 

Local Historic District: Garden District

State Cultural District: Garden District

National Historic District: The Garden District

Zoning Description: HU- RD1, Historic Urban Two-Family 

Residential District

Property Description: SQ 202 PT LOT 13 PT LOT 14 

JACKSON AND PRYTANIA 35 OVER 16 X 105 VAR 1452/56 

JACKSON AV & 2200 PRYTANIA FILE #1670

Built: 1852

Architect: Henry Howard

Builder: P. Geraghty

Style: Greek Revival/Italianate 

Type: Commercial Townhouse 

Property Description 
2200 Prytania 

New Orleans; shows district boundary lines, districts 1-9, part of district 10-11. ---- Plate 

40 from "Mitchell's New General Atlas.". Louisiana State Museum Historical Map 

Collection
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Chain of Title
2200 Prytania 

1800 1900 2000

1846

John 

Tiner 

1893

Thomas 

Waterman

1847

John 

Tiner 

1897

Miss Kate 

Cruden Rodd

John Tiner purchased Lot 13 in 1846 and 

Lot 14 in 1847. Thus combining the two lots 

in order for 1450  and 1452 Jackson to be 

constructed.  The two buildings where later 

separated creating the unique property line. 

Thomas Waterman lived in a house on lots 

5-10 of SQ.202 and purchased lots 11-12 

and 13-14 in 1865. He sold the lots to his 

son Myles who then sold them back a few 

years later. 

1931

Succession of 

Emma Louis 

Shaw Brittin

1942

Cheleste Brittin 

O’Donnell,

Adele Brittin 

Eustis, Clarice 

Marston 

1949

Mrs Rosa 

Bree Smith 

1994

William 

Reily III

1999

Waggonner

& Ball 

Architects 

1975

Frank Labouisse

George Farnsworth 

William Reily III

1813

Widow 

Panis

1958

Herbert 

Mintz

2011

Pruitt 

Partners1912

Abraham 

Brittin

1886

Myles S 

Waterman

1865

Thomas

Waterman

The Panis plantation 

is subdivided by 

surveyor F.V. Portier. 
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Neighborhood History
Garden District 

The most common feature of New Orleans plantations

was the ease with which they changed ownership. The 

brasserie changed hands thirteen times between 1720 

and 1810. Plantation ownership was the best and

virtually only investment in the colony. It was common 

to buy one, sell it a few years later, buy another one up 

or down river, then sell it. Owners moved from place to 

place, and it is extremely rare to find a plantation that 

remained in one family for 50 years. Parts of the large 

Livaudais plantation between Louisiana and Jackson 

remained in the family for more than a half a century, 

but the edges were sold and rebought several times. 

The portion downriver of todays First Street was owned 

by Jacinto Panis and subdivided by his widow in 1813, 

creating the Faubourg Panis which shortly became part 

of the City of Lafayette upon its founding in 1833. The 

city was incorporated into New Orleans in 1852 

ultimately becoming known as the Garden District. 

Map in "The New Orleans Book" 

published by the Orleans Parish School 

Board, New Orleans published 1919
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Neighborhood History
Garden District 

The expansion of New Orleans upriver marked a 

significant transformation in the city's growth during 

the 19th and early 20th centuries. As the city’s 

population swelled, plantations were converted into 

streets and lots as Uptown became a desirable area 

for the city's wealthy residents, leading to the 

development of grand homes, tree-lined streets, and 

elegant architecture. The construction of streetcar 

lines as a faster more convenient way to travel 

played a pivotal role in facilitating this expansion, 

providing easy access between the downtown area 

and the increasingly affluent neighborhoods upriver. 

This expansion also spurred the establishment of 

businesses, schools, and cultural institutions, making 

Uptown a cultural and economic hub. Over time, the 

area’s distinct character, blending residential 

elegance with local charm, has remained a defining 

feature of New Orleans. 

A.H. Guillot & L. J. Adam; Map of the City of New Orleans and Vicinity July 1925

Louisiana State Museum Historical Map Collection (red line indicate streetcar tracks)



2200 Prytania Street | Historic Property Report 

Neighborhood History
SQ 202

Square 202, bounded by Jackson, Prytania, Philip, and Coliseum has been predominantly residential with 1456 Jackson 

being the only commercial exception. The first floor had served as a drug store for nearly 100 years of its existence.

The businesses that followed sold stationary, weight loss programs, donuts, books, and real estate. John Tiner, T.S. 

Waterman, and H.S. Buckner have had the most lasting influence on the block. The Buckner Mansion, well known today, 

originally occupied one third of the block and was once part of the only institutional use on the block, Soule Collage from 

1923 to 1983. When the college closed the lot was subdivided for additional residences.  John Tiner purchased lots 

11,12,13, & 14 separately and commissioned Henry Howard to design the corner building, though it was not completed 

until after his death. T.S. Waterman purchased lots 5-10 for his home and purchased lots 11-12 and 13-14 in 1865 from 

John Tiner’s sons. And when the buildings were sold separately in 1897, a pedestrian access easement to Prytania Street 

was given to 1450 Jackson (which occupies part of lot 13) creating an unusual lot shape for both properties. Jackson Flats 

apartment building was later built on lots 11 & 12. 

Left: The Robinsons Atlas of the City of 

New Orleans, 1883

Middle: Sanborn Map, 1896

Right: Square 202, Lot Plan, Real Estate 

& Records City of New Orleans.

Below: City Directory, 1866.
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Property History
Architect & Builder

Date: unknown, 

Waggonner & Ball website.

John Tiner, a wholesale grocer, commissioned Henry Howard, in 1849, to 

design the building, paying Howard $50 for the plans. 

Henry Howard was a prolific architect of his time with many buildings to his 

name. It was common, at the time, to be both the architect and the builder of 

any project, as much of the profit was in the construction. Slave labor was 

typically used in construction before the Civil War and Howard was an 

abolitionist and thus did not own slaves. He could not compete with other 

architect/builders when it came to labor costs. So, Howard shifted his 

business to focus on the drafting of plans for clients that would use the 

builder of their choosing and for an extra fee he would provide project 

oversite, visiting the site most everyday during construction. He had to rely 

on volume to make a living, designing grand mansions and plantation houses 

as well as small homes and commercial buildings. 

The builder is listed as Patrick Geraghty, who is also named as the executor 

of John Tiner’s will and tutor (guardian) of his minor sons at the time of his 

death in 1850. Due to concerns over the quality of construction in several 

buildings being built when Tiner died, his succession is lengthy and includes 

testimony from Henry Howard, among many others, which provided the date 

and price of this commission. 

Times-Picayune

March 28, 1851
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Property History
Maps

The Robinson’s Atlas of 

the City of New Orleans, 

was published by E. 

Robinson in New York City 

in 1883. The title page 

states that it was compiled 

from surveys by New 

Orleans city surveyor and 

architect John F. Braun. 

Braun most likely created 

the maps during the latter 

part of the 1870s. This 

map was used for 

insurance purposes and 

was the predecessor to 

the Sanborn maps.

The Robinsons Atlas of the City of New Orleans, 1883.

E. Robinson, New York, publisher

New Orleans Notarial Archive
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Property History
Sanborn Maps

Sanborn's Insurance Maps

Sanborn Fire insurance maps were used in the late 19th and early 20th century to insure property 
in urban areas. These maps help to date a building, denote number of floors, building materials 
and use. These maps were updated regularly and make it possible to track changes in the 
property over time.

1896 1909 1951
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Property Use
Conception of Comus

New Orleans Item

February 27, 1927
Times-Picayune

November 4, 1858

Mardi-Gras, 1873. "Ye 

Mystick Krewe of Comus."

The first known business to occupy the main floor was Pope’s 

Pharmacy. Dr. John H. Pope, originally from Brooklyn NY, came 

to New Orleans via Mobile. Pope’s Pharmacy was a social 

gathering spot for this corner of the City of Lafayette and in 

1856 a group of men gathered there discussing the problem of 

the debaucherous Carnival events that plagued the city at the 

time. The proposed solution was to put on an organized activity, 

such as the parades they were having in Mobile to bring 

structure to the holiday’s activities and so the first Mardi Gras 

Krewe was born. The organization was then formally founded at 

Gem Saloon on Royal Street on January 10, 1857. The Mystick

Krewe of Comus is still the oldest Carnival organization in 

existence. 

Dr. John H. Pope, as a founder, is credited with naming the new 

group. He was a classical scholar and an admirer of Milton, the 

English poet who wrote "The Masque of Comus“. The theme of 

the first Comus parade and ball was "Demon Actors" from John 

Milton’s "Paradise Lost," This was both an intellectual and 

practical choice on Pope’s part as the new Krewe borrowed 

their first floats and costumes from the Cowbellians’ parade in 

Mobile whose theme was "Pandemonium Unveiled."

“Mistick Krewe of Comus 

Admit Card.“ 1896, New 

Orleans City Archive.
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Property Use
1452-56 Jackson

Times-Picayune

July 26, 1973

NO State-Item

October 4, 1975

Times-Picayune

October 20, 1958

Times-Picayune

November 25, 1945

Times-Picayune

October 22, 1911

Times-Picayune

June 1, 1954



2200 Prytania Street | Historic Property Report 

Property Use
2200 Prytania 

Its is typical for a building in the city to 

have multiple addresses associated with 

it, and the use of those addresses may 

change over time, typically as the use of 

the building changes. As the property’s 

commercial functions shift away from 

use as a store to use as an office the 

prevalence of the Jackson Ave facing 

1452-56 address is replaced by the 2200 

Prytania address, and the main entrance 

shifts to the side door. The corner store 

opening is restored to a forward-facing 

door as would have likely been in place 

when the building was constructed. This 

change indicates the move away from 

publicly assessable space to a more 

limited capacity.

Times-Picayune

October 15, 1975

Times-Picayune

October 21, 2009

Times-Picayune

February 25, 1984
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Architectural Changes

Gaudet's Drug Store in the distance on the corner. 

1916-1920, 1994.105.128, The Historic New Orleans 

Collection. 

All buildings are altered over 

time, adapting to the way we 

use them. This mixed use 

commercial and residential 

building still functions much 

in the same way it always 

has with apartments on 

upper floors and business 

use on the first floor. 

This photo gives us a 

dramatic sense of the 

streetscape of Jackson 

Avenue in the early 20th

century with a glimpse of the 

buildings at the corner 

looking much as they do 

today. 
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Noticeable changes to the 

exterior of the building have 

been limited to window and 

door openings on the first 

floor and a rear service 

structure being replaced 

with automobile parking. 

Due to this buildings 

position on the corner of the 

block along a historic 

streetcar line it was 

constructed with 

commercial use in mind. 

However, in the 20th century 

the building’s most 

significant alteration 

occurred with the addition of 

a ‘corner store’ entrance. 

This building detail common 

of stores was added to 

accommodate the building’s 

use as a drug store.

Times-Picayune

December 28,1958

Architectural Changes

Times-Picayune

January 8, 1975

NO Item

April 6, 1953
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Erika Gates
erika@gatespreservation.com

832-444-1231
gatespreservation.com

This property report is produced is for personal informational use only. All documents, photos, maps, etc. within this report are 

the property of multiple archival institutions and may require further permission to be copied or published. Please consult Gates 

Preservation prior to distributing any copies of this report or publishing/printing any photographs/documents within this report.
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